No. 47149-3-II

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Pamela O'Neill, Appellant

v.

The City of Port Orchard, Respondent

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Anthony C. Otto, WSBA 11146 Attorney for Appellant 2021 S.E. Sedgwick Rd., Ste 2 P.O. Box 1368 Port Orchard, Washington 98366 Telephone: (360) 876-5566 Fax: (360) 895-8689

Email:tony@anthonyotto.com

INTRODUCTION

This is an action relating to a serious injury to plaintiff/appellant Pamela O'Neill on July 17, 2008 from a fall on a city street from her bicycle which she was using to commute to and from work. She alleges road defects and poor maintenance caused her fall. The concrete slabs at the scene have shifted and have gaps and ledges. There is evidence at the scene of prior City attempts to repair the roadway, but they are worn and ineffective.

Defendant/Respondent City of Port Orchard nominated City Engineer Mark Dorsey to serve as their CR 30(b)(6) deponent/spokesman. His deposition was taken on September 13, 2013.

Defendant moved for summary judgment under CR 56. Plaintiff submitted materials in response, including but not limited to, a declaration from proposed expert James Couch, who had visited the scene and taken photos and measurements.

The court struck the plaintiff's expert and granted the motion to dismiss. This appeal follows.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The court erred by finding no duty of the City to maintain roadways safe for bicycle use.
- 2. The court erred by finding the plaintiff's bicycle expert was not qualified and disregarding his facts and opinions.
- 3. The court erred by finding that plaintiff was engaged in the sport of bicycling, invoking assumption of risk principles, and negating the

- City's duty to provide safe roads, as evidence shows she was commuting to and from work by bicycle.
- 4. The court erred in granting summary judgment by finding as a matter of law that plaintiff has failed to make a prima facie case of negligence by the City of Port Orchard when there are facts on which reasonable minds could differ.

ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. What is the City's duty to provide a safe roadway for bicyclists using the roadway for transportation purposes?
- 2. Did the City breach its duty to provide a safe roadway to plaintiff?
- 3. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in disregarding the plaintiff's expert's opinions?
- 4. Does using a bicycle on a public road for transportation purposes invoke assumption of risk principles absolving the City of a duty to provide safe roads?
- 5. Are there sufficient facts to cause reasonable minds to differ on defendant's negligence?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Statement of Facts.

The street in question is Sidney Avenue, a major road into the City of Port Orchard. Dorsey Deposition, p. 68, lines 12-17, CP 111. As it approaches downtown, it has a significant downhill grade. Where Sidney has cross streets, such as the one at Kitsap Street, the grade levels out, then the

descent starts again on the far side of the cross street. Otto declaration, Exhibit 4, CP 122, 123, 124. The City of Port Orchard has the responsibility to maintain the roadway at Sidney Avenue and Kitsap Street. Dorsey deposition, p. 35, line 24, CP 106. Sidney Avenue was apparently paved in 1946 or before. Dorsey deposition, p. 56, line 20 to p. 57, line 21, CP 109. There have been no major repairs since that time. Sidney is constructed of concrete slabs. The slabs have moved and heaved over time, with one panel rising while the other one does not. Dorsey deposition, p. 58, line 20 to p. 59, line 7. CP 110. This leaves gaps and ledges in the roadway. The gaps and ledges are significant. Some of the shifting has raised the concrete slabs from neighboring slabs in excess of an inch, with the ledge running parallel to vehicular traffic. Otto Declaration, Exhibit 4, CP 121-124. Defects that run parallel to the direction of bicycle travel are particularly hazardous, are difficult to see, and need not be very large to cause a bicycle accident. Declaration of James Couch, CP 124A-E¹. Even City Engineer Dorsev acknowledged that diagonal hazards can catch a bicycle tire and kick it to the side. Dorsey deposition, p. 49, line 20 to p. 50, line 2, CP 108.

Plaintiff's expert, James Couch, has examined the site and states: "I have seen only a few hazards as pernicious as the pavement defect located

Although Couch's Declaration was listed in plaintiff's Designation of Clerk's Papers, the County Clerk erroneously omitted it initially from the Index of Documents transmitted to the Court of Appeals. The odd CP pagination of this document, which Appellant has been told by the County Clerk will be used, permits it to stay in chronological order with the other documents.

near the intersection of Sidney Avenue and Kitsap Boulevard in Port Orchard." Declaration of James Couch, ¶ 30, CP 124D.

There are no records that maintenance has ever been done at the intersection of Sidney Avenue and Kitsap Street. Dorsey deposition, p. 54, line 17, CP 109. Even without records, there is evidence of prior attempts at repair by City road crews, as shown by asphalt patches on the road. Dorsey Deposition, p. 55, line 6-21, CP 109. No one currently working in the City road department can remember when those patches were made. Dorsey Deposition, p. 65, line 1-11, CP 111. Dorsey estimated that the patches could have been ten to thirty years old, and were placed to reduce the differential so that the edges would not be so abrupt. Dorsey deposition, p. 67 line 20 to p. 68 line 2. CP 111. He agreed that the patches were very worn, and that "Yes, I would say that the City does need to address this section of road...." Dorsey deposition, p. 68, lines 3-5, CP 111.

As to the question of whether there are regular inspections of roadways for safety issues, Mr. Dorsey stated the City of Port Orchard operates solely on a "complaint-based system." (Dorsey deposition, page 78, lines 11-17), implying it does no regular inspections of its streets. Apparently it takes an injury or accident before a defect will be examined. Whether there are actual repairs is based on financial constraints. (Dorsey deposition, page 79, lines 1-24).

The City has no training for road staff as to the needs of bicycles. Dorsey deposition, p. 52, line 11 -25, CP 108. The roads are maintained for

vehicles. As to the specific intersection in question, Dorsey stated in his deposition at page 59, starting at line 19, CP 110:

A: ... I think that even though that roadway, from what I've been told, lifts and falls seasonally, we've not done anything to that since I've been here. Again, it's primarily maintained for vehicles.

Q: Vehicles other than bicycles?

A: Yes.

The grade from South to North on Sidney is a significant descent, in the neighborhood of 25 percent both above and below the landing at Kitsap Street. Dorsey deposition, p. 69, line 16 to p. 70, line 4, CP 112. This exceeds current standards, but which the City Engineer contends is permitted because it was constructed before the standards. The road was sloped, "[I]n the order of 25 percent, definitely in excess of 12 percent," the maximum grade currently allowed by law. (Dorsey deposition, p. 70, lines 5-18, CP 112).

Plaintiff/Appellant Pamela O'Neill regularly rode her bicycle to and from work. O'Neill deposition, p. 13, lines 3-11, CP 92. O'Neill had no driver's license, and so used her bicycle to get to work, and to go to the store, and to visit friends. O'Neill deposition, p. 13, lines 6-18, CP 92. On the day of the incident, she was bicycle commuting on her way home from work. O'Neill deposition, p. 16, lines 22-25, CP 92. Ms. O'Neill worked at that time as a patient personal care provider at Sidney House. Plaintiff's deposition at p. 41, lines 22 - 25, CP 98. Her bicycle was a Cannondale, which she obtained the year before. O'Neill deposition, pp. 11-12. CP 91. She first learned to ride a bicycle at age six. O'Neill deposition p. 12, line 16,

CP 91. She was born in 1960. CP 29. At the time this incident arose, she was 48 years of age. CP 29.

In the year preceding the bike accident, Plaintiff rode her bike daily. O'Neill deposition, p. 13, line 5, CP 92. She never had a bicycle accident, and rode her bike frequently without incident. Moreover, Plaintiff never had any near misses with cars or other bicyclists prior to the bike accident underlying this litigation. O'Neill deposition, p. 15, lines 12-20, CP 92. Ms. O'Neill is a skilled bike rider, but does not ride trails and stays on the concrete. Plaintiff's deposition, p. 14, line 22 to p. 15, line 8, CP 92. While she frequently rode elsewhere in the City of Port Orchard, Ms. O'Neill never rode her bicycle anywhere other than the City of Port Orchard itself. O'Neill deposition, p. 14, line 25 to p. 15, line 2, CP 92. Although she had been bicycle commuting for a year, this was the first time she used this particular roadway with her bicycle. O'Neill deposition, p. 29, lines 10-25, CP 37.

As to traffic control devices pertinent to travel on Sidney Avenue, there was no stop sign for a vehicle or bicycle traveling northbound on Sydney as she was. There were stop signs for cross traffic, eastbound and westbound on Kitsap Street. O'Neill deposition, p. 60, lines 9-13, CP 100, Otto Declaration, Exhibit 4, CP 124. There was a yellow incline sign warning travelers of a hill that Plaintiff saw further up the hill as she approached the descent. O'Neill deposition, p. 60, line 24, CP 100, which Ms. O'Neill understood to mean the incline would be steeper, and to use caution. O'Neill deposition, p. 61, lines 1-3, CP. At the time Plaintiff saw

the incline sign, her speed was already slow, but she brought her bicycle to an even slower speed by evenly applying the brakes in the handlebars and pedals of her bicycle. O'Neill deposition, p. 62, lines 2-11, CP 101. There was no signage prohibiting the use of bicycles on Sidney. Deposition of Dorsey, p. 52, line 6, CP 108. The City Engineer never recommended a sign prohibiting bicycle travel on this road, but would consider one if they lost this case. Dorsey deposition p. 70, line 19 to p. 71, line 12. CP 112.

On July 17, 2009, plaintiff Pamela O'Neill was riding home after work by bicycle. O'Neill deposition, p.16, line 25, CP 92. She was proceeding Northbound on Sidney Avenue in Port Orchard, downhill. As she approached the intersection with Kitsap Street, described above, a truck was traveling her same direction, requiring her to pull to the right to allow the truck to pass on the left, though there were cars parked on the right side of the road. O'Neill deposition, p. 20, lines 8-19, CP 93. This is the area where bicycles in the flow of traffic are expected to travel, and where experienced and skilled bicyclists are most likely to ride. Declaration of James Couch, ¶ 21, CP 124D. When there is other traffic on the roadway, bicycles are to move to the right, so that traffic can pass, but they cannot go so far right as to be endangered by the parked cars.

Suddenly, her front tire changed directions, and she was thrown over the handlebars. O'Neill deposition, p. 20, line 3, CP 93, p 21, line 24, CP 94. It turned her handlebars. She testified that the condition of the road caused her to fall, Plaintiff declaration, p. 23, line 24. In particular the uneven, rough

road surface of the road which had been repaired caused the fall. Plaintiff declaration, p. 24, lines 9-16, CP 94.

In further describing why she fell, Ms. O'Neill stated, "All of a sudden the bike changed directions with the front tire. That's all I know." O'Neill deposition, p. 21, lines 24-25 CP 94. Plaintiff explained that she felt a vibration and a quick jerk when her tire changed direction, and her handlebars moved to her right. O'Neill deposition, p. 22, lines 1-7, CP 94.

Plaintiff landed on her head and right shoulder, and injuring her elbow, back, hands and knees. O'Neill deposition, p. 33, lines 10-24, CP 96. Fortunately she was wearing a bicycle helmet, and suffered no head injury or loss of consciousness. Plaintiff declaration, p. 33, lines 13-20, CP 96. She knew right away that her bones broke, as she could hear them cracking and had immediate pain. Plaintiff declaration, p. 34, lines 3-9, CP 96, CP 30. The assessment of paramedics was possible right shoulder dislocation, elbow, rib and clavicle fracture. CP 30. She was in the hospital for seven days with a fractured clavicle and punctured lung. Deposition of Plaintiff, p. 391 lines 17-24, CP 97, p. 40, line 1, CP 97.

Weather was not a contributing factor to this crash and injury. The weather conditions that day were dry and warm. O'Neill deposition, p. 43, line 1. CP 98. She was sober. O'Neill deposition, p. 42, lines 23, 24, CP 98. Plaintiff was riding a Cannondale brand bicycle, an excellent bike, which the City, through counsel, admits. O'Neill deposition, p. 12, line 13, CP 91.

James Couch was retained to look at the circumstances and supply an expert opinion as to the cause of this crash. But for a short hiatus in 1979, Couch has spent his career the bicycle industry since 1975. He was trained in manufacturing and fitting bicycles by the top companies, and is employed by REI as a Technical Specialist II, the highest level cycle and ski shop technician certification. He has been trained and certified as a United States Cycling Federation Category 3 cycling coach. He has owned his own bicycle shop, Spoke & Sprocket, for 17 years in Tacoma, Washington. His shop provided mechanical support to the areas top organized rides, including the Seattle to Portland Classic (STP), Peninsula Metric, Daffodil Metric, and Rhapsody events. His shop sponsored recreational and racing bicycle clubs. He has organized and run bicycle races, and has provided assistance in both racing and recreational route and course development. Declaration of James Couch, CP 124A-C.

While a member of the University Place Economic Development Committee, he was often asked to give advice about cycling facilities. He is currently on the Multnomah County Bicycle and Pedestrian Citizen Advisory Committee which advises Multnomah County regarding bicycle and pedestrian facilities. CP 124B.

Mr. Couch has served as a bicycle accident expert for 17 years, identifying eight specific court cases in which he was retained, and referencing being a consultant in a number of other cases which did not make

it to formal litigation. He has never been found unqualified to serve as an expert witness. CP 124B-C

Mr. Couch met with Pamela O'Neill at the scene of the crash, discussed the accident with her, read her deposition, and personally inspected the site. Couch declaration, ¶¶ 6-8, CP 124C. He has reviewed all of the photographs, the deposition of the City Engineer, Mr. Dorsey, and the accident report. Couch declaration, ¶¶9-11, CP 124C. He saw that the there are pavement defects of concrete slabs that have separated in the area that her front tire of her bicycle hit. Couch declaration, ¶ 12, CP 124C. He saw that the height difference between the slabs exceed one inch, which alone is enough to cause the most experienced bike rider to lose control of their bicycle. Couch declaration, ¶13, CP 124C. Otto Declaration, Exhibit 4, CP 124. He saw that the slabs in question are separated from each other by a distance that varies, from two to six inches, with one as wide as eleven inches. Couch declaration, ¶14, CP 124C. Otto Declaration, Exhibit 4, CP 122-124. He saw that the surface area within (between) the slabs is very rough and formed by a variety of substances, including dirt, gravel, and road patch material. Couch declaration, ¶ 15, CP 124C. He saw that the primary defect runs nearly parallel to the direction of travel, and is long, running the length of the slab. Couch declaration, ¶ 16, CP 124C. He saw that the roadway defects at Sidney Avenue and Kitsap Street are in the area where skilled and experienced bicyclists are most likely to ride, far enough from parked cars to be safe for travel. Couch declaration, ¶¶ 21, 22, CP 124D. He

knows that the defects which run parallel to the direction of travel are difficult for a cyclist to see while cycling. Couch declaration, ¶17, CP 124C-D. He knows that roadway defects which run the direction of bicycle travel need not be very large to cause a bicycle accident. Couch declaration, ¶18, CP 124D.

Mr. Couch expressed an opinion that, this particular defect creates a significant hazard to cyclists, given its size and length. Couch declaration, ¶ 19, CP 124D, as, once a bicyclist's wheel engaged the defect, even the most experienced cyclist would have trouble maintaining control of the bicycle. Couch declaration, ¶ 20, CP 124D. Mr. Couch found Ms. O'Neill to be a cautious, skilled, safe cyclist. Couch declaration, ¶ 29, CP 124D. He expressed the opinion that Ms. O'Neill's tire engaged the road defect, which steered her bike, caused a loss of control, turned her bike, and caused her body to fly over the handlebars. Couch declaration, ¶ 19, CP 124D. Mr. Couch expressed the opinion that, in his entire career, he has seen only a few hazards as pernicious as the pavement defect here at issue. Couch declaration, ¶ 30, CP 124D.

B. Statement of Procedure

A Summons and Complaint for damages was filed on July 16, 2012. CP 1-7.

An Answer was filed July 27, 2012. CP 8-12.

Defendants filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on August 28, 2014, CP 13-14, along with a Memorandum of Authorities, CP 15-26, and a Declaration of Patrick McMahan, with exhibits, CP 27-48.

Plaintiff's Response was filed September 22, 2014, along with a Declaration of Anthony C. Otto, with exhibits, CP 87-124, and a Declaration of James Couch, CP 124A-E.

Defendant filed a reply on September 29, 2014, CP 125-137, including a motion to strike plaintiff's expert, CP 127-131.

Argument was held on October 24, 2014. The court asked for supplemental authorities, which plaintiff supplied on October 24, 2014. CP 138-140.

The court entered findings of fact, Conclusions of law and an Order Granting Summary Judgment on December 1, 2014. CP 141-147.

Plaintiff filed a timely motion to reconsider on December 11, 2014. CP 148-150, and Supplemental authority on December 19, 2014. CP 151-158.

An Order on Reconsideration denying reconsideration was filed on December 19, 2014. CP 159-161.

A Notice of Appeal was timely filed. CP 162.

ARGUMENT & AUTHORITIES

- A. <u>Summary Judgment Presumptions</u>
- i. At the Trial Court

There is a strong presumption that juries, not judges, will decide issues of fact, as the right to jury trial, even in civil cases, is established in the Washington State Constitution, Article 1 § 21:

The right of trial by jury shall remain inviolate, but the legislature may provide for a jury of any number less than twelve in courts not of record, and for a verdict by nine or more jurors in civil cases in any court of record, and for waiving of the jury in civil cases where the consent of the parties interested is given thereto.

The Washington State Supreme Court reaffirmed that principle on May 28, 2015 in Davis, et al. V. Cox, et al, Supreme Court Docket number 90233-0, when they declared unconstitutional RCW 4.24.525, which required trial courts to weigh evidence in deciding an anti-SLAPP motion to dismiss, similar to a summary judgment motion, yet requiring more intensive proof to withstand dismissal.

Still, summary judgment is constitutionally permissible "if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. *LaMon v. Butler*, 112 Wn.2d 193, n. 5, 770 P.2d 1027 (1989); *Sanders v. City of Seattle*, 160 Wn.2d 198, 207, 156 P.3d 874 (2007).

While, generally, issues of fact are for trial, *Petersen v. State*, 100 Wn.2d 421, 436, 671 P.2d 230 (1983), a court may determine an issue of fact if reasonable minds could not differ on the outcome, and could reach but one conclusion. *Bostain v. Food Express, Inc.*, 159 Wn.2d 700, 153 P.3d 846 (2007); *Dutton v. Washington Physicians*, 87 Wn. App. 614, 943 P.2d 298

(1997); Balise v. Underwood, 62 Wn.2d 195, 381 P.2d 966 (1963). If, however, reasonable minds could differ, then summary judgment is not appropriate. Smith v. Safeco Ins. Co., 150 Wn.2d 478, 486, 78 P.3d 1274 (2003).

Summary judgment is proper where there are no genuine issues of material fact and the moving party is entitled to prevail as a matter of law. CR 56(c); *Public Employees Mutual Ins. Co. v. Fitzgerald*, 65 Wn. App. 307, 828 P.2d 63 (1992). In determining if summary judgment is appropriate, the court must consider all evidence and inferences in a light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Bostain v. Food Express, Inc.*, 159 Wn.2d 700, 153 P.3d 846 (2007), *Davis v. Niagara Mach. Co.*, 90 Wn.2d 342, 581 P.2d 1344 (1978).

When it comes particularly to negligence decisions, the supreme court has noted that:

"issues of negligence and proximate cause are generally not susceptible to summary judgment." Ruff [v. King County], 125 Wash.2d at 703, 887 P.2d 886 (citing LaPlante v. State, 85 Wash.2d 154, 159, 531 P.2d 299 (1975)); accord Gilbert H. Moen Co. v. Island Steel Erectors, Inc., 128 Wash.2d 745, 759, 912 P.2d 472 (1996) (noting negligence is ordinarily a question of fact).

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