No. 47149-3-II

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

PAMELA O'NEILL

Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

CITY OF PORT ORCHARD

Defendant/Respondent



BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Patrick McMahon, WSBA #18809 Carlson McMahon & Sealby PLLC 37 S. Wenatchee Ave., Suite F P.O. Box 2965 Wenatchee WA 98807-2965 (509) 662-6131

Attorney for Defendant/Respondent, City of Port Orchard

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

ARGUMENT

A. The Trial Court did not err in excluding the expert testimony of Plaintiff's Expert

The trial court excluded the expert testimony and opinions of James Couch. The court found that Mr. Couch did not provide any evidence that he was qualified to provide competent expert testimony regarding bicycle accident reconstruction, road design, or road signage

requirements and how the human body reacts to such visual signage. (CP 114). The trial court did not err in the exclusion Mr. Couch's testimony contained in his declaration in opposition to Defendant's summary judgment motion.

1. Standard of Review

In her appellate briefing. Plaintiff argues the exclusion of Mr. Couch's declaration should be reviewed de novo. In support of that contention, Plaintiff cites Kill v. City of Seattle, 183 Wn. App. 1008 (2014). However, Kill, is an unpublished opinion, and pursuant to GR 14.1(a), "a party may not cite as an authority an unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals." Plaintiff fails to identify that Kill is an unpublished opinion in her citation. See (Brief of Appellant pg. 32-33). Accordingly, this Court should not consider Plaintiff's argument that the exclusion of James Couch's testimony should be reviewed de novo because Plaintiff cites no binding legal authority.

Opposing Plaintiff's argument, this Court should review the exclusion of Mr. Couch's expert testimony at an abuse of discretion standard:

Generally, expert testimony is admissible if: (1) the expert is qualified, (2) the expert relies on generally accepted theories in the scientific community, and (3) the testimony would be helpful to the trier of fact. In applying this test, trial courts are afforded wide discretion and trial court expert opinion decisions will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of such discretion.

Johnston-Forbes v. Matsunaga. 181 Wn. 2d 346, 352, 333 P.3d 388 (2014) (citing In re Marriage of Katare. 175 Wash.2d 23, 38, 283 P.3d 546 (2012)), see also, Miller v. Likins, 109 Wn. App. 140, 148, 34 P.3d 835 (2001) (the court of appeals will not disturb the trial court's ruling if the reasons for admitting or excluding the opinion is fairly debatable), Moore v. Hagge, 158 Wn. App. 137, 155, 241 P.3d 787 (2010) (expert opinions stricken on summary judgment were reviewed at the same standard as advanced in Miller, 109 Wn. App. at 148).

Here, this Court should review the exclusion of James Couch's declaration at an abuse of discretion standard. However, assuming, *arguendo*, this Court does elect to review the exclusion of James Couch's expert opinion at a de novo standard, this Court should find that the trial court did not err in excluding his opinion because Mr. Couch is not qualified to provide the testimony and opinions stated in his declaration.

2. Plaintiff's Expert's Declaration is Speculation and Lacks Adequate Foundation

Plaintiff submits the "Declaration of James Couch" as evidence from an expert witness. Washington Rules of Evidence state "a witness is qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise." ER 702. The court asks two questions when applying this rule: "(1) does the witness qualify as an expert, and (2) would the witness's testimony be helpful to the trier of fact." State v. McPherson. 111 Wn.App. 747, 761, 46 P.3d 284 (2002). "Where there is no basis for the expert opinion other than theoretical speculation, the expert testimony should be excluded." Queen City Farms. Inc. v. Cent. Nat. Ins. Co. of Omaha, 126 Wn.2d 50, 103, 882 P.2d 703 (1994). As the Court of Appeals has stated, "[i]t is well established that conclusory or speculative expert opinions lacking an adequate foundation will not be admitted." Miller v. Likins. 109 Wn.App. 140, 148, 34 P.3d 835 (2012).

For example, in <u>Miller</u>, an expert's opinion about where the actual accident occurred was properly stricken from the record. <u>See</u> 109 Wn.App. at 149. The <u>Miller</u> court found that his opinion was speculative and lacked an adequate factual basis because the expert did not "perform a quantitative analysis to support his version of the facts of the accident." <u>Id</u>. The expert "testified that he had no way of determining where the point of impact in this accident occurred." <u>Id</u>.

Here, Mr. Couch makes the factual conclusion that Plaintiff's bicycle engaged the defect between two concrete slabs that ran parallel to Plaintiff's direction of travel. See (CP 124D). Upon this happening, the Declaration continues that Plaintiff's bike was turned to the side and she fell. Id. This opinion is in conflict with testimony provided by Plaintiff in her deposition. (See CP 94). Plaintiff believes it was the changes in the road condition that caused her fall. Id. She never states in her deposition that her tire became caught in a void, gap, or separation between any concrete slabs. Further, Plaintiff cannot provide a clear identification of what defect actually caused her to fall, as was discussed in this brief's Statement of Facts. Mr. Couch's inferences in his report on what caused Plaintiff to fall are not supported by any factual statement made by Plaintiff. Also, similar to Miller, Mr. Couch performed no quantitative analysis as to what may have caused Plaintiff's fall nor does Mr. Couch have the training or expertise to perform such quantitative analyses.

Additionally, Mr. Couch makes factual statements that are not supported by any evidence in the record. Mr. Couch states that "the slabs in question are separated from each other by a distance that varies, from 2 to 6 inches, and one as wide as 11 inches." See (CP 124C). Mr. Couch provides no supplemental exhibits to support such statement. In contrast, photographs in Plaintiff's declarations only show, at best, differences in the elevation of the slabs in the amount of one inch, and separation in the amount of approximately two, possibly three inches. See (CP 122-124). In fact, James Couch provides none of this own exhibits showing the distance between any concrete slabs with any sort of measuring tool in his declaration. The distance between the concrete slabs appears to be overstated and not quantitatively determined with an accurate measuring tool.

Mr. Couch also states that Defendant "was aware, or should have been aware, of this defect as evidenced by some prior attempts to repair the defect." See (CP 125D). Mr. Couch again is making a factual statement of what notice the City may have been provided regarding the condition of the roadway. This statement is pure speculation by Mr. Couch.

Mr. Couch's factual statements and his conclusion gleamed from them are purely speculative in nature and should be stricken by this Court.

3. Plaintiff's Expert is Not Qualified to Testify as an Expert Regarding Road Design or Human Facts

In order to be an expert witness, the expert must be qualified to offer the opinion. <u>See Acord v. Pettit</u>, 174 Wn.App. 95, 111, 302 P.3d 1265 (2013). "An expert may not testify about information outside his area of expertise." <u>Katare v. Katare</u>, 175 Wn.2d 23, 38, 283 P.3d 546 (2012).

Here, Plaintiff's expert Mr. Couch offers conclusory statements that are outside the purview of a bicycle expert witness. The first is Mr. Couch's statements regarding road design. Mr. Couch states that "there is no signage warning cyclists that there are significant risks along this route." (CP 125D). Mr. Couch also states that "in my entire career as a bicycle expert, I have seen only a few hazards as pernicious as the pavement defect located near the intersection of Sidney Avenue and Kitsap Boulevard in Port Orchard, WA." Besides the fact that his statement regarding the absence of roadway signs is factually inaccurate. Mr. Couch's statement could only be made by a road design expert. See (CP 40.) Mr. Couch has no training in roadway design, construction, or maintenance, or training on required road signage, or how a person might perceive the road signage. He is not qualified to make such statements as they are outside his area of expertise. Any statement regarding his opinion of City of Port Orchard's roadways, conditions of the roadways, and signage of the roadways should be stricken.

Secondly, Mr. Couch makes statements regarding human factors and what defects a person may be able, or unable, to see and the difficulties of seeing such defects. Mr. Couch states, "moreover, the defect is difficult for a cyclist to see." Defects that run nearly parallel to the direction of travel as opposed to those that run perpendicular to the direction of travel such as pot holes, for example, are very difficult for a cyclist to see while they are cycling." See (CP 124C-D). Mr. Couch has no expertise on what a person can and/or cannot see and how the direction of a defect might affect a person's visual sensory abilities. Mr. Couch has no training or experience as a human factors expert. Again, he is also speculating on what Plaintiff may or may not have seen as she rode her bicycle.

Finally, Mr. Couch provides no quantitative analysis to show what Plaintiff saw. These statements regarding how orientation of a defect affects a person's visual sensory ability are best left for a human factors expert and are outside Mr. Couch's area of expertise.

For the above reasons, while Mr. Couch may be an expert in bicycle retail shop ownership, Mr. Couch's statements are clearly outside his area of expertise and the trial court did not err in striking his entire declaration from the record.

4. Portions of Plaintiff's Expert Testimony Offers Legal Conclusions and Should Be Stricken

Washington Rule of Evidence, ER 704 states: "testimony in the form of an opinion or inferences otherwise admissible is not objectionable because it embraces an ultimate issue to be decided by the trier of fact." ER 704. However, "experts may not offer opinions of law in the guise of expert testimony." Tortes v. King Cntv., 119 Wn. App. 1. 12, 84 P.3d 252 (2003). The expert's opinion must be applicable to the specific facts of the case. <u>Id</u>.

In <u>Tortes</u>, an expert witness claimed to be an expert on security and law enforcement. <u>Id</u>. at 13. The witness never claimed to have any expertise regarding the standard of care owed by

public transit drivers. <u>Id</u>. The appeals court found that the opinions he gave pertaining to the foreseeability of events and whether the transit authority took proper measures was outside the "area of expertise." <u>Id</u>. Further, the court found that his "statements [were] conclusions of law, which offer legal opinions on the ultimate legal issue, and therefore were not proper testimony under ER 702 and 704." <u>Id</u>.

Similarly here, Mr. Couch is offering legal opinions on the ultimate legal issue, whether Defendant was negligent in its maintenance of its roadways. While Mr. Couch never makes a conclusory statement regarding whether it is his belief the City was negligent, his Declaration makes such inferences. For instance:

- 23. Once the front tire of Plaintiff Pamela O'Neill bicycle engages the defect, the defect in essence steers the bike, causing a loss of control and crash.
- 25. The City of Port Orchard was aware, or should have been aware of this defect as evidenced by some prior attempts to repair the defect.
- 30. In my entire career as a bicycle expert, I have seen only a few hazards as pernicious as the pavement defect located near the intersection of Sidney Avenue and Kitsap Boulevard in Port Orchard, WA.

(CP 124D).

Besides making factual determinations in which Mr. Couch has no personal knowledge, such as how Plaintiff fell and what notice the City of Port Orchard had of the condition of the roadway, Mr. Couch cannot comment on the ultimate legal issue as to whether the City of Port Orchard was negligent. Here, Mr. Couch makes such inference that the City of Port Orchard was negligent in the maintenance of its roadways. For this reason, his opinion on the ultimate legal issue should be stricken.

5. Plaintiff Does Not Show James Couch is Qualified as an Expert

Plaintiff goes to great lengths in her briefing to attempt to show James Couch's seventeen years in the bicycle industry qualifies him to provide the testimony in his declaration. Defendant has no reason to dispute that he has training in selling and fitting bicycles, coaching bicyclists, and providing support to organized rides. However, none of this training qualifies him to offer opinions on road maintenance and design, human factors, or bicycle accident reconstruction.

Further, Plaintiff even concedes that Mr. Couch does not provide the nature of his testimony in his given list of previous retainage as an expert. See (Appellant's Brief pg. 31). The fact that Mr. Couch personally observed the site of the incident would not provide a finder of fact any additional information that could not be observed by any layperson. The facts remain that Mr. Couch has no engineering training whatsoever, nor does his report use any of his measurements to show how the accident might have occurred with mathematical probability or mechanisms. Mr. Couch is not qualified to provide the opinions found in his report.

Additionally, Plaintiff's cited cases are either distinguishable or have no legal precedent in Washington Courts. In <u>Jewels v. City of Bellingham</u>, a bicyclist was injured when he struck a water diverter that had been constructed in a roadway next to a speed bump. <u>Jewels v. City of Bellingham</u>, 180 Wn. App. 605, 608, 324 P.3d 700, review granted, 181 Wn.2d 1001, 332 P.3d 985 (2014) and aff'd, No. 90319-1. 2015 WL 3643478 (Wash. June 11, 2015). The case did not turn on whether the roadway was reasonably maintained for a bicyclist but rather whether the city was immune because of the recreational land use statute and whether the city had actual knowledge of any dangerous latent condition. <u>Id.</u> at 612. The <u>Jewels</u> court answered both questions in the negative, and the city was found not at fault. <u>Id.</u> The <u>Jewels</u> case is also distinguishable because the defect in the roadway, the water diverter, was affirmatively placed there by the city to divert storm water. Here, there is no evidence that Defendant affirmatively placed anything on Sidney

Avenue that would be hazardous to a user of the roadway. Because of this distinction, the <u>Jewels</u> decision is not informative to the case at hand.

Plaintiff continues to cite cases that have no legal binding precedent on Washington Courts.

Plaintiff cites cases from an Illinois¹ court, West Virginia² court, and a Florida³ court, but none have precedent on Washington Courts and are all factual distinguishable as they deal with sewer drain grates and not the pavement condition of the roadway's surface. See (Appellant's Brief pg. 35); see also W. v. Thurston Cntv., 168 Wn. App. 162. 184. n. 22, 275 P.3d 1200 (2012) (citations omitted) ("But other states' decisions are not binding on us"). Also, none of these authorities demonstrate how Mr. Couch may be a qualified expert to provide testimony in this particular matter.

In sum, Plaintiff expert, James Couch, is not qualified to provide the testimony in his declaration because he has no expertise in the areas of his opinions. Plaintiff does not provide any legal authority to demonstrate why Mr. Couch may be qualified to offer such opinions. Because of these facts, the trial court did not err in finding that he was not "qualified to provide competent expert testimony regarding bicycle reconstruction, road design, or road signage requirements and how the human body reacts to such visual signage." (CP 144).

B. The Trial Court Did Not Err in Its Determination that the Defendant Owed No Duty to Plaintiff

1. Standard of Review

a. Summary Judgment Standard of Review at the Trial Court

¹ Cole v. City of East Peoria. 201 III. App.3d 756, 559 N.E.2d 769 (1990), court determined whether a city was aware of a danger condition created by a storm water grate (emphasis added).

² Koffler v. City of Huntington. 196 W. Va. 202, 469 S.E.2d 645 (1996), bicyclist brought suit against city for personal injuries received when bicycle tire dropped between slats of <u>storm drain grate</u> in center of alley (emphasis added).

³ Moffat v. U.S. Foundry & Mfg. Corp., 551 So. 2d 592 (Fla. Dist. Ct.'App. 1989) a products liability case where a mother of injured bicyclist brought action against a manufacturer of <u>drainage grate</u> which child was trying to avoid when struck by automobile while crossing bridge (emphasis added).

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